JAN 1 1 2018

COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION III
STATE OF WASHINGTON
By

JAN 22 2018
WASHING ON STATE
SUPPLIED

No.

COA No. 345734-III

95414-3

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ESTATE OF MICHAEL DEMPSEY, by and through its Personal Representative, ELLEN SMITH, and ELLEN SMITH, Appellants v.

SPOKANE WASHINGTON HOSPITAL COMPANY LLC d/b/a DEACONESS HOSPITAL, et al., Respondents

#### PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

BRIAN REKOFKE, WSBA 13260 MATTHEW DALEY, WSBA 36711

WITHERSPOON · KELLEY 422 W. Riverside Ave., Ste. 1100 Spokane, WA 99201-0300

Phone: (509) 624 5265

Email: btr@witherspoonkelley.com mwd@witherspoonkelley.com

Counsel for Deaconess

III.	STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW			
IV.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE			
	A.	THIS IS A MEDICAL NEGLIGENCE CASE		
	B.	As in All Medical Negligence Cases, the Estate Identified Expert Witnesses and the Defendants Subpoenaed Those Experts' Files		
	C.	THE ESTATE RESISTED DISCOVERY, AND THE TRIAL COURT ORDERED THE ESTATE TO PRODUCE A PRIVILEGE LOG AND THE REQUESTED DOCUMENTS		
	D.	THE COURT OF APPEALS ACCEPTED DISCRETIONARY REVIEW AND REVERSED THE TRIAL COURT'S ORDER4		
V.	ARGUMENT5			
	A.	THE COURT OF APPEALS' FAILURE TO HOLD THE ESTATE TO ITS EVIDENTIARY BURDEN CONFLICTS WITH PRIOR WASHINGTON CASE LAW		
	C.	THE COURT OF APPEALS IMPROPERLY DISTINGUISHED BETWEEN "ATTORNEY WORK PRODUCT" AND "EXPERT WORK PRODUCT" IN DISREGARD OF HEIDEBRINK V.  MORIWAKI		
	D.	THE COURT OF APPEALS' WAIVER ANALYSIS IS CONTRARY TO SETTLED WASHINGTON STATE LAW		
	E.	THE COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION IS CONTRARY TO PRE-2010 FEDERAL LAW		
VI.	CO	NCLUSION		

# TABLE OF AUTHORITY

# CASES

Blankenship v. Hearst Corp., 519 F.2d 418 (9th Cir.1975)
Cedell v. Farmers Ins. Co. of Washington, 176 Wn.2d 686 (2013) 6
Dreiling v. Jain, 151 Wash.2d 900 at 916, 93 P.3d 861 6
Elm Grove Coal Co. v. Dir., O.W.C.P, 480 F.3d 278 (4th Cir. 2007) 16
Harris v. Drake, 152 Wn.2d 480 (2004)
Heidebrink v. Moriwaki, 104 Wash.2d 392, 706 P.2d 212 (1985) 11, 14
In Re Detention of West, 171 Wn.2d 383 (2011)
<i>In Re Firestorm 1991</i> , 126 Wn.2d 130
Johnson v. Gmeinder, 191 F.R.D. 638 (D. Kan. 2000)
Karn v. Rand, 168 F.R.D. 633 (N.D.Ind.1996)
Limstrom v. Ladenburg. 10 Wn. App. 133 (2002)
Lowy v. Peacehealth, 174 Wash.2d 769, 280 P.3d 10786
Magana v. Hyundai Motor Am., 167 Wash.2d 570, 220 P.3d 191 (2009)6
Musselman v. Phillips, 176 F.R.D. 194 (D.Md.1997)
Occulto v. Adamar of New Jersey, Inc., 125 F.R.D. 611 (D.N.J.1989) 15
Pappas v. Holloway, 114 Wash.2d 198, 787 P.2d 30 (1990)
Rental Hous. Ass'n of Puget Sound v. City of Des Moines, 165 Wash.2d 525, 199 P.3d 393 (2009)6

122 Wash.2d 299, 858 P.2d 1054 (1993)
Rules
CR 26
CR 26(a)(4)11
CR 26(b)(3)14
CR 26(b)(4)
CR 26(b)(5)
CR 26(b)(5)(A)
CR 26(b)(5)(A)(i)
CR 26(b)(5)(B)
CR 26(c)
CR 37(d)
RAP 13.4(b)5
RAP 13.4(b)(1)
RAP 13.4(b)(2)
OTHER AUTHORITIES
14 Wn. Prac., Civil Procedure, 13:14 (2d Ed., 2015 Undate).

### I. IDENTITY OF THE PETITIONERS

This petition for review is respectfully submitted by the Defendants below and Appellees before the Court of Appeals: Spokane Washington Hospital Company, LLC dba Deaconess Medical Center (hereinafter "Deaconess"); Rockwood Clinic (hereinafter "Rockwood") and Michael Wukelic, M.D. (hereinafter collectively "the Defendants"). This petition for review is respectfully submitted pursuant to RAP 13.4.

# II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

This petition seeks review of Division III of the Washington State Court of Appeals' December 14, 2017 Published Opinion. The Defendants respectfully ask the State Supreme Court to review the Court of Appeals' analysis and application of the work product privilege as it pertains to counsel's communications with a retained testifying expert. A true and correct copy of the Court of Appeals' decision is appended to this petition.

#### III. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Decades of Washington jurisprudence, and parallel federal case law, recognize a distinction between consulting experts and testifying experts. Specifically, consulting experts are considered part of the attorney/client team; sharing information with a consulting expert, therefore, does not result in any privilege being waived. The same is not

true with respect to experts who are retained to offer testimony. The Court of Appeals' decision – quite specifically and overtly – disregards the historical distinction between consulting and testifying experts. Ignoring that distinction, the Court of Appeals erroneously created a privilege for communications between a party (or its counsel) and a testifying expert. Should the Court accept review to correct the Court of Appeals' error?

# IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

# A. This Is a Medical Negligence Case.

Michael Dempsey presented to Rockwood's urgent care clinic complaining of shortness of breath. CP 6. He was taken to Deaconess' emergency room; his condition worsened, and he was admitted to the intensive care unit. CP 6, 8-9. Ultimately, he suffered cardiac arrest, and he lost consciousness. *Id.* Mr. Dempsey never regained consciousness and he passed away a few months later. CP 8-10.

Mr. Dempsey's estate filed suit in Superior Court. *See* CP 3-14. The Estate alleged that the Defendants were negligent and that their negligence was a proximate cause of Mr. Dempsey's death. *Id*.

B. AS IN ALL MEDICAL NEGLIGENCE CASES, THE ESTATE IDENTIFIED EXPERT WITNESSES AND THE DEFENDANTS SUBPOENAED THOSE EXPERTS' FILES.

The Estate identified Dr. Steven Simons as an expert witness. *See* CP 28. The Estate proffered Dr. Simons for deposition, and Defendants

issued a subpoena to Dr. Simons for that deposition. CP 38-43. The subpoena sought a complete copy of Dr. Simons' file, including any correspondence between Dr. Simons and counsel for the Estate. *Id.* 

C. THE ESTATE RESISTED DISCOVERY, AND THE TRIAL COURT ORDERED THE ESTATE TO PRODUCE A PRIVILEGE LOG AND THE REQUESTED DOCUMENTS.

The Estate objected to the subpoena, asserting that the work product doctrine protected counsel's communications with testifying experts. *Id. See* CP 26, 45-46. Moreover, though the Estate acknowledged having correspondence/communications with Dr. Simons, the Estate refused to describe any of the communications. *See* VRP 2-8, CP 52-55; VRP 19.

The Defendants brought a motion to compel compliance with the subpoena to Dr. Simons. CP 22-23. The trial court had previously appointed a discovery master, and he held that the Estate had waived any privilege by sharing information with Dr. Simons – a testifying expert.

See CP 17-21; see also VRP 8. The trial court agreed with the discovery master, holding that any otherwise-applicable work-product privilege was waived by sharing documents or information with a testifying expert.

VRP 35-36, CP 283-86.

Neither the discovery master nor the trial court ordered the Estate to make immediate and unconditional production of the requested

documents. Both noted that the Estate's failure to describe the documents at issue made resolution of the issue difficult; both, therefore, ordered the Estate to prepare and produce a privilege log. See CP 188-94, 286. The trial court specifically noted that if it was to make rulings on the documents at issue once the Estate provided a privilege log: "if Counsel [for the Estate] is claiming work product, then the Court would need to see a list or a log of each document that was claimed to be work product privilege and make a ruling based on the claim and the document." CP 286. The Estate, however, refused both orders to provide a privilege log. To date, the Estate has provided no description or details regarding the subject documents.

# D. THE COURT OF APPEALS ACCEPTED DISCRETIONARY REVIEW AND REVERSED THE TRIAL COURT'S ORDER.

The Estate filed a timely motion for discretionary review. CP 287-88. The Defendants agreed not to enforce the subpoena pending resolution by the Court of Appeals. The Court of Appeals initially declined the Estate's motion. However, discretionary review was granted on the Estate's motion to modify.

On December 14, 2017, the Court of Appeals issued a Published Opinion. The Court of Appeals' majority rejected the discovery master's and the trial court's analysis. The Court of Appeals' majority held that a

privilege exists between a party (or its counsel) and an expert who was retained to offer testimony in the matter..

#### V. ARGUMENT

RAP 13.4(b) identifies multiple considerations for resolving petitions for discretionary review in the State Supreme Court. Paramount among the Rules' criteria is whether the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with a prior decision by the State Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b)(1). And in order to foster consistency in Washington State law, the Rules' second criterion asks whether the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with prior decisions by the Court of Appeals. *See* RAP 13.4(b)(2).

The Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with multiple prior decisions by both the State Supreme Court and by the Court of Appeals.

Those conflicts require discretionary review to be granted. Those conflicts also demonstrate serious errors of law that must be corrected.

A. THE COURT OF APPEALS' FAILURE TO HOLD THE ESTATE TO ITS EVIDENTIARY BURDEN CONFLICTS WITH PRIOR WASHINGTON CASE LAW.

Washington State has well-established caselaw with respect to work product. The doctrine provides a "qualified immunity" from discovery for documents prepared in anticipation of litigation. *Harris v. Drake*, 152 Wn.2d 480, 486 (2004). The doctrine is "incorporated in CR

26(b)(4), which . . . [permits discovery of protected documents] only upon a showing that the party seeking discovery has substantial need . . . and that he is unable without undue hardship to obtain the substantial equivalent of the material by other means." *Id*.

Like every other privilege, the party asserting that the work product doctrine shields documents from discovery bears the burden of demonstrating that the privilege applies:

Because discovery is, by design, intended to be broad, a party wishing to assert a privilege may not simply keep quiet about the information it believes is protected from discovery; it must either, reveal the information, disclose that it has it and assert that it is privileged, or seek a protective order. Magana v. Hyundai Motor Am., 167 Wash.2d 570, 584, 220 P.3d 191 (2009) (citing CR 37(d)); Wash. State Physicians Ins. Exch. & Ass'n v. Fisons Corp., 122 Wash.2d 299, 354, 858 P.2d 1054 (1993). A health care provider seeking to assert a privilege must seek a protective order. Lowy [v. Peacehealth], 174 Wash.2d [769] at 789, 280 P.3d 1078. The best practice is for the trial court to require a document log requiring grounds stated with specificity as to each document. See Dreiling [v. Jain], 151 Wash.2d [900] at 916-17, 93 P.3d 861; see also Rental Hous. Ass'n of Puget Sound v. City of Des Moines, 165 Wash.2d 525, 538-39, 199 P.3d 393 (2009) (emphasizing value of privilege log). The burden of persuasion is upon the party seeking the protective order. See CR 26(c); see also Blankenship v. Hearst Corp., 519 F.2d 418, 429 (9th Cir.1975) (opponent of disclosure bore "heavy burden of showing why discovery [should be] denied").

Cedell v. Farmers Ins. Co. of Washington, 176 Wn.2d 686, 695-96 (2013) (boldface added).

The subpoena at issue requested communications and correspondence between the Estate's attorney and Dr. Simons. CP 38-43. The Estate claimed a privilege but provided no description of the documents upon which the Estate's claim was made. *See* CP 26, 45-46, 52-55; VRP 12-8, 9.

As a result, the discovery master ordered the Estate to "prepare and to serve and file a privilege log delineating specifically all letters, correspondence or other documents . . . not previously disclosed, which plaintiffs claim is protected by any privilege . . ." CP 188-94. The Estate did not provide the privilege log that was ordered.

The trial court was, thus, left without any basis to evaluate the Estate's claim of privilege. The trial court noted that "if Counsel [for the Estate] is claiming work product, then the Court would need to see a list or a log of each document that was claimed to be work product privilege and make a ruling based on the claim and the document." CP 286. The Estate refused the trial court's request for a privilege log as well.

The Estate's failure to provide a privilege log should have been case determinative. The Estate did not offer sufficient proof to establish the privilege that it claimed. The Court of Appeals specifically acknowledged the Estate's failure to provide any privilege log. Slip Op. at p. 12. However, rather than holding the Estate to its burden, the Court of

Appeals simply excused the failure, giving the Estate a third bite at the apple. *Id*.

The Court of Appeals' decision cannot be reconciled with Washington's burden of proof regarding privileges. Separate and apart from the substantive errors in the Court of Appeals' decision, that error requires discretionary review to be granted.<sup>1</sup>

# B. THE COURT OF APPEALS DISREGARDED IN RE DETENTION OF WEST'S CLEAR DISTINCTION BETWEEN CONSULTANTS AND TESTIFYING EXPERTS.

The State Supreme Court's decision in *In Re Detention of West* draws a clear distinction between consultants and testifying experts. The decision also defines the discovery consequences of that distinction. 171 Wn.2d 383 (2011). By disregarding the distinction between consulting and testifying experts, the Court of Appeals' decision is in conflict with *West*, and that conflict requires discretionary review to be granted.

Gale West faced a petition (filed by the State of Washington)

pursuant to Washington's Sexually Violent Predator ("SVP") law. *Id.* at

390. In the SVP action, the State designated Dr. Leslie Rawlings as a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Court of Appeals' decision regarding "draft reports" also presents a serious procedural error. *See* Slip Op. at p. 6. As noted by Judge Fearing's considered dissenting opinion, there was no discussion of draft reports at the trial court level and the record contained no reference to draft reports. There was no question regarding draft reports; it was, therefore, error for the Court of Appeals to make holdings and issue rulings regarding draft reports.

testifying expert. *See id.* at 393. During Dr. Rawlings' discovery deposition, Mr. West learned that Dr. Rawlings had participated in approximately 37 prior SVP actions, either as a consultant or as a testifying expert. *Id.* at 393-94. Mr. West served a subpoena seeking Dr. Rawlings' files with respect to each of those 37 prior matters. *Id.* 

The *West* Court began its analysis by reaffirming Washington's long-standing distinction between discovery from consultants and from experts who were retained to offer testimony. *Id.* at 404-05. The Court noted that fundamentally different policy considerations guide the discovery analysis:

CR 26(b)(5)(A) provides liberal discovery rules for the work product of experts whom a party expects to call to testify at trial. Because modern litigation often involves "intricate and difficult issues as to which expert testimony is likely to be determinative," the aim of CR 26(b)(5)(A) is to make trials fairer and improve their truth-finding function by giving pretrial access to the other side's expert witnesses in order to prepare for cross-examination and rebuttal.

\* \* \*

A nontestifying expert's opinions and factual knowledge implicate distinct concerns, and therefore discovery of this work product as a separate rule defined in CR 26(b)(5)(B). . Because the expert is not expected to testify at trial, the interests in effective cross-examination and rebuttal are not at issue. Instead, four contrary interests prevail: (1) encouraging counsel to obtain necessary expert advice without fear that the adversary may obtain such information; (2) preventing unfairness that could result

from allowing an opposing party to reap the benefits of another party's efforts and expense; (3) preventing a chilling effect on experts serving as consultants if their testimony could be compelled; and (4) preventing prejudice to the retaining party if the opposing party were allowed to call at trial an expert who provided an unfavorable opinion.

*Id.* (emphasis added). Consistent with the different applicable rules and the different policy considerations, the Court held that Mr. West was entitled to full discovery with respect to those cases wherein Dr. Rawlings offered testimony and that the State was entitled to retain confidentiality with respect to those cases wherein Dr. Rawlings served only as a consultant. *Id.* at 405-10.

In this case, the Court of Appeals flatly rejected Washington's historic distinction between consultants and testifying experts. In fact, the Court of Appeals' decision contains a footnote, wherein the Court of Appeals made its rejection explicit:

Such free and creative discussions might include asking one's expert (1) to assess the strengths and weaknesses of the expert's own opinions, or (2) to assess the strengths and weaknesses of an adverse expert's opinion, or (3) an opinion on a settlement offer. If such legitimate discussions were not protected parties would be required to hire both a testifying expert and a consulting expert, and the costs of litigation would further increase.

Slip Op. at p. 12, n.6 (emphasis added). Though keeping limitation costs down is a laudable goal, the Court of Appeals' attempt to achieve that end

by disregarding Washington's established distinction between consultants and testifying experts was in error.<sup>2</sup> That error must be reversed.

C. THE COURT OF APPEALS IMPROPERLY DISTINGUISHED
BETWEEN "ATTORNEY WORK PRODUCT" AND "EXPERT WORK
PRODUCT" IN DISREGARD OF HEIDEBRINK V. MORIWAKI.

The Court of Appeals' decision proceeds from an improper distinction – from its first paragraph, the Court of Appeals drew a distinction between "attorney work product" and "expert work product." Slip Op. at p. 1. However, the State Supreme Court's decision in *Heidebrink v. Moriwaki* is direct and unambiguous: Washington makes "no distinction between attorney and nonattorney work product." 104 Wn.2d 392, 396 (1985) (*quoted by West*, 171 Wn.2d at 402). Documents prepared by parties, attorneys, consultants, sureties, or other representatives are equally protected. *Id.*, *see also* CR 26(a)(4). The Court of Appeals' decision was erroneously based upon the premise that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Judge Fearing's Dissenting Opinion correctly observes that – consistent with *West* – document requests to a testifying expert (pursuant to CR 26(b)(5)) do not need to satisfy the "substantial need" requirement from CR 26(b)(4). Slip Op. at p. 9. This is because disclosure of work product to a consulting expert does not constitute a waiver because the consulting expert is "part of the attorney-client team" and because the same is not true for testifying experts – a testifying expert is a third person, outside of the attorney/client privilege. 14 Wn. Prac., Civil Procedure, 13:14 (2d Ed., 2015 Update). The Court of Appeals' imposition of the "substantial need" factor for a testifying expert was also in error and was also in direct conflict with *West*.

there is a distinction between attorney and expert work product. That error permeated every aspect of the Court of Appeals' decision.

# D. THE COURT OF APPEALS' WAIVER ANALYSIS IS CONTRARY TO SETTLED WASHINGTON STATE LAW.

The Court of Appeals' decision improperly holds that no waiver occurs when a party (or the party's attorney) provides otherwise privileged information to a testifying expert. Slip Op. at pp. 10-12. That decision is contrary to the Court of Appeals' decision in *Limstrom v. Ladenburg*. 10 Wn. App. 133, 145 (2002). *Limstrom* holds that the work product privilege is waived by sharing otherwise privileged information with any third person – including a testifying expert.

The Court of Appeals attempted to distinguish *Limstrom* by a passing footnote, asserting that *Limstrom* applied only when documents are disclosed to an adversary. Slip Op. at p. 9, n.5. However, *Limstrom* cannot be distinguished or disregarded, and its holding is not as limited as the Court of Appeals asserted. The decision required the Court of Appeals to hold that the Estate waived any otherwise-applicable privilege by sharing information with a testifying expert.

Limstrom arose from a Pierce County Prosecuting Attorney's appeal of a trial court order requiring disclosure of fact-gathering materials from prior criminal matters. 10 Wn. App. at 135. The materials at issue

had been disclosed to the criminal defendant in each of the prior matters pursuant to mandatory disclosure rules applicable in criminal cases. *Id.* at 138. The Prosecuting Attorney's Office argued that such disclosure did not constitute a waiver because it was **not voluntary and because no testimonial use** had been made of the disclosed materials. *See id.* at 138, 145. The Court of Appeals agreed. *Id.* at 147.

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