FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2/12/2018 2:26 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 95414-3 COA No. 345734-III

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ESTATE OF MICHAEL DEMPSEY, by and through its Personal Representative, ELLEN SMITH, and ELLEN SMITH,

Respondents/Appellants,

v.

SPOKANE WASHINGTON HOSPITAL COMPANY d/b/a DEACONESS MEDICAL CENTER,

and

ROCKWOOD CLINIC and Michael Wukelic, M.D.,

Petitioners/Respondents.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

MARY SCHULTZ

Mary Schultz Law, P.S. 2111 E. Red Barn Lane Spangle, WA 99031 Tel: (509) 245-3522, Ext. 306

E-mail: Mary@MSchultz.com

Attorney for Respondents/Appellant

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

In contrast, when a CR 34 request for production issues to an Estate party, then the Estate is the party required to produce, not the witness. The privilege log process, and the "waiver" analysis the *Dempsey* court applies, ¹ is now triggered to allow the party to protect its attorney's work product. Because a request for production goes to the Estate party, then the Estate collects the information from the expert as a retained expert for the Estate, discloses the proper information, and may move for a protective order and assert any claim of privilege via a privilege log over attorney work product that may exist within its expert's work product. These substantial differences in protection and process between CR 45 and CR 34 discovery mechanisms are missed in the *Dempsey* ruling. The result is confusion over the use of the two forms of discovery, and the *Dempsey* court incorrectly denying the Estate the remedies to which it was entitled in the form of an order quashing that subpoena and fees. The Dempsey court accepts that Defendants' subpoena was subject to CR 45, see Dempsey at 1168-1169 discussing CR 45's fee provision, but it then fails to properly apply that rule's mandatory sanctions for the improper use of a court order against a witness. This distinction between CR 45 and CR 34 is not well defined in

¹ see *Dempsey at 1167*, section C.

other precedent dealing with these privileges, and goes awry in *Dempsey*, but it is error.

The second critical distinction between a CR 45 subpoena to a witness verses a CR 34 request for production to a party is the "burden of proof' and the concept of privilege logs. When a party issues a CR 45 subpoena to a witness ordering privileged material, it is the *issuing* party who must assert some waiver or exception to the rule's preclusion from them doing this with a witness. CR 45(c)(3)(A)(iii). Absent such, the subpoena to that witness must be quashed. *Id. Dempsey* reaffirms the privileges, but it then applies a "waiver" and "privilege log" process to the Estate that could only arise with a properly issued CR 34 request for production to the Estate itself. When a CR 45 subpoena is used, the party's attorney never gets their hands on the privileged material, because the order demands production directly from the witness. No privilege log is prepared by the party attorney, because the party attorney is circumvented. Again, this distinction is not made in *Dempsey*. Again, the remedy for such an improper subpoena duces tecum issued directly to a witness, not a party, is an order quashing that court order and awarding the mandatory sanctions under CR 45(c)(1), not a discussion of waiver, as detailed in Section C of the decision. *Dempsey at 1167*.

Finally, the *Dempsey* court addresses, e.g., whether "waiver" of the

now reaffirmed privileges may have existed, and concludes it can't yet tell, because the *Estate* hasn't produced anything. Again, this fails to appreciate the difference between a CR 45 subpoena to a witness and a CR 34 request for production to a party. The *Estate* has no burden of production, because the subpoena directive *is not to the Estate*—it is to the witness.

Plaintiffs thus submit that *Dempsey's* affirming the continued existence of attorney and expert work product privileges should be affirmed; but this Supreme Court should review and reverse the *Dempsey* court's failure to apply the difference between an improper CR 45 order to a witness, versus those protective order/privilege log remedies that apply with CR 34 discovery to a party. The Estate should be entitled to all of its fees and costs, and the Defendants' subpoena quashed.

IV. RESPONSE STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

Defendant Petitioners Rockwood and Dr. Wukelic issued a subpoena duces tecum to the Estate's expert medical witness, ordering that the witness produce "[a]ny and all notes, memos, either written or electronic which you have made while performing work on this case. This is meant to include handwritten notes concerning conversations with ... Plaintiffs' counsel ..." 406 P.3d at 1164, *citing CP* 78. Absent production, the witness would be "deemed guilty of contempt of court." *CP* 78: 25-26. This document thus ordered the witness to produce the Estate attorney's mental

impressions and opinions held by the expert. CR 45 mandates that a court quash or modify any such subpoena, because the subpoena demands production of "disclosure of privileged or other protected matter" from a witness, and the Defendants failed to identify any requisite CR 45 exception or waiver that might apply to allow their use of a subpoena in this fashion. $CR \ 45(c)(3)(A)(iii)$.

At both discovery master and trial court levels, the Estate moved for an order quashing this improper subpoena duces tecum, and requesting fees. Both the discovery master and trial court denied CR 45 remedies to the Estate by concluding that no privileges *exist* with a testifying expert witness. Moreover, the Discovery Master and the trial court ordered the Estate's counsel to submit a privilege log—even after concluding that no privileges existed to invoke. *See CP 189, Estate of Dempsey at 165*.

Contrary to Defendants' petition, the Estate did not "refuse both orders to provide a privilege log." Instead, the Estate was forced to appeal to Division III to (re)establish a work product privilege before it could even begin a privilege log, or, more accurately, enforce CR 45 against this improper subpoena. Until the privileges were "reinstated," there would be no privilege to claim on a privilege log, and no CR 45 relief. See CP 189,

Estate of Dempsey at 165.² Because it was the witness who was under court order to produce directly to the issuing party, the Estate counsel moved to protect its counsel's work product in that expert's hands, essentially placing counsel and their expert in conflict.

The Estate's appeal to Division III was successful in confirming the continued existence of attorney and expert work product privileges with a testifying expert. The trial court was reversed on its ruling that no privilege existed between an attorney and their retained testifying expert. *Dempsey at 1164*. But it did not direct an order quashing the Defendants' subpoena to the witness, and denied fees to the Estate. The Defendants now petition for review claiming that no such privileges exist. In response, the Estate asks that this Court hold that the Estate is entitled to all CR 45 remedies, direct an order quashing the subpoena, and award all fees to the Estate.

V. REPLY TO ARGUMENT.

The decision of the Court of Appeals is not in conflict with decisions of this Supreme Court, nor with other published decisions of the Court of Appeals, in its holding that both attorney and expert work product privileges apply to testifying experts. But having made that ruling, the *Dempsey* ruling

² Even Judge Fearing, in dissent, concedes this "anomaly in the ruling," whereby the discovery master rejected the application of the attorney work product doctrine entirely but then required the presentation of a privilege log. *Dempsey at 1170*.

does err in failing to enforce the plain language of CR 45, which mandates an order quashing the subpoena, and an award of fees to the Estate. The distinction between a party using a CR 45 subpoena against an expert witness, versus its sending a CR 34 request for production to the opposing party, should be recognized and enforced.

A. The Appellate Court correctly reaffirms that attorney and expert work product privileges remain where each's work is in the hands of the other.

An attorney's work product privilege protects that attorney's work product in the hands of any retained expert. CR 26(b)(4), and see Soter v. Cowels Pub. Co., 162 Wn.2d 716 (2007) (attorney work product protections remain under the public disclosure act per civil rules, applying this principle to a district's investigation notes); Matter of Firestorm 1991, 129 Wn.2d 130 (1996) (attorney work product protections remain with a retained expert who offered his information to the other side); Harris v. Drake, 152 Wn.2d 480, 48-486, 491, 99 P.3d 872 (2004). Both a party and the party's representative, i.e., those retained or employed by the party's insurer, may assert the protection of the work product rule, and documents prepared in anticipation of litigation are discoverable only upon a showing of substantial need); In re Det. Of West, 171 Wn.2d 383, 407 (2011)(work product protections attach to both a consulting and an expert witness, and

remain in place with a testifying expert whose materials are otherwise discoverable within the limits of CR 26(b)(5)). The *Dempsey* court correctly affirms CR 26(b)'s attorney and expert work product privileges, and correctly reversed the trial court's improper abrogation of both.

Defendants argue that all such privileges are waived with a testifying expert given *In re Det. of West*, 171 Wn.2d at 383; but *West* does not stand for that proposition. When the *West* court states: "Accordingly, where the liberal discovery rule in CR 26(b)(5)(A) *lacks protections for testifying expert work product before trial*, ...," the lack of protection being referenced is the distinction made by CR 26(b)(4) and (5) themselves.³ With a CR 26(b)(5)(B) consulting expert, nothing can be accessed. With a testifying expert, CR 26(b)(5)(A), "facts known and opinions held by experts," otherwise discoverable under the provisions of subsection (b)(1), and "acquired or developed in anticipation of litigation or for trial," can be accessed, subject to attorney work product protections. Neither an attorney nor an expert waive privileges or civil rules limitations because of testifying expert status. *West* goes out of its way to reiterate *Firestorm* as protecting attorney work product:

"Finally, we clarify any confusion from our decision in *In re Firestorm 1991*.... CR 26(b)(5) pertains only to the 'facts known and opinions held by *experts*.' (Emphasis added). We

³ See 171 Wn.2d at 407, emphasis added.

do not say that 'the mental impressions, conclusions, opinions, or legal theories of an attorney ... concerning the litigation,' CR 26(b)(4), are subject to discovery under CR 26(b)(5)."

West, 171 Wn.2d at 407.4

Defendants argue that *Dempsey* is contrary to *Limstrom v*. *Ladenburg*, 10 Wn. App. 133, 145 (2002). This is incorrect. *Limstrom* addresses the concept of waiver in the context of an attorney who had disclosed their work product protected documents to their *adversary*, not to a testifying expert. But the court held that even where disclosure is mandatory, such as in criminal cases, then the disclosure does not constitute a waiver. *See Petition for Review, p. 13, "Analysis."*

The *Dempsey* ruling is in accord with Washington state law and its Civil Rules as it relates to the existence of these privileges between

The Defendants reference Justice Madsen's concurring opinion in *In re Firestorm 1991*. Justice Madsen noted that federal rules have been looked to for guidance in construing state rules. 129 Wn.2d 130 (1996). Were that to be done here, then it must be noted that the federal rules were specifically changed in 2010 to prevent the very outcome that the Defendants urge here. *See Fed. R. Proc. 26*, 2010 Federal Rules Advisory Committee Note; and see PacifCorp v. Nw. Pipeline GP, 879 F,Supp.2d 1171, 1212 (D. Or. 2012)(stating, "Importantly, the amended Rule 26 now explicitly protects communications between a party's attorney and reporting experts"; and see Republic of Ecuador v. McKay, 742 F.3d 860, 870 (9th Cir. 2014)(noting that "historical evolution of the rule, its current structure, and the Committee's explanatory notes" all make clear that the 2010 amendments were "to protect opinion—i.e., attorney mental impressions, conclusions, opinions, or legal theories—from discovery," and that attorney-expect communications were targeted by the Committee because they were considered "the areas most vulnerable to the disclosure of opinion work product.")

testifying experts and their retaining counsel. Each's work product remains protected in the hands of the other.

B. Privileges protect both consulting and testifying experts.

Defendants argue that the Appellate Court erred by allegedly failing to recognize the "distinction" between consulting experts and testifying experts, but they fail to explain exactly what they think that distinction is. As explained above in Section A, "full disclosure" certainly applies to testifying experts, versus no disclosure at all with consulting experts, but "full disclosure" with testifying experts means that disclosure allowed by existing privileges and civil rule limitations. $CR \ 26(b)(5)(A)$. Discovery within the limits of the rule may be obtained from a testifying expert. $CR \ 26(b)(5)(A)$. No discovery at all may be obtained from a consulting expert, absent a showing of exceptional circumstances. $CR \ 26(b)(5)(B)$.

C. No basis for review exists where an appellate court ruling is "contrary to pre-2010 federal law."

Defendants argue that the *Dempsey* ruling on the continued existence of privileges is contrary to "pre-2010 federal law." That is not a basis for review under *RAP 13.4(b)*.

RAP 13.5(b)(2).

D. The party issuing a CR 45 subpoena to an outside witness has the burden of asserting waiver or an exception to avoid the rule's sanctions. The Appellate Court failed to hold the Defendants to their burden as the issuer of a CR 45 subpoena, and this error is cause for review under RAP 13.5(b)(2).

An issue regarding "burdens of proof" raised in the Defendants' petition for review leads to the probable error in *Dempsey* that the Estate asserts is subject to review under RAP 13.5 (b)(2). *Dempsey* determines an interlocutory appeal, subject to RAP 13.5, and it errs by failing to direct the trial court to quash the Defendants' subpoena, and by failing to award all attorney fees to the Estate. Its ruling substantially alters the status quo by redirecting a defense subpoena directed at a witness to the Estate itself, subjecting the Estate attorney to contempt, as opposed to the witness. The error arises from the critical distinction between a CR 45 subpoena to a witness of the opposing party, versus a CR 34 request for production to the opposing party itself. This ruling should be reviewed as probable error under RAP 13.5(b)(2).

Defendants argue that the *Dempsey* court failed to hold the Estate to *its* evidentiary burden in responding to a discovery inquiry. Defendants fail to distinguish between a CR 45 subpoena duces tecum to an outside witness

demanding privileged information from that witness, versus a CR 34 request for production to the party Estate.

Dempsey also fails to apply this distinction, but when a party uses a CR 45 subpoena to directly order a *witness* to produce privileged material, then CR 45(c)(3)(A)(iii) makes it the *issuing* party's duty to assert the exception to the preclusion. Otherwise, the subpoena is not in conformity with CR 45, and it is a nullity. *State v. Adamski*, 111 Wn.2d 574, 578, 761 P.2d 621 (1988) (addressing nullity in the context of service of the subpoenas).

In this way, CR 45's subpoena rule differs substantially from CR 34's request for production. Under CR 45, a subpoena may not target privileged information from an outside witness without the issuer identifying some exception to the preclusion, or asserting that the preclusion is waived as to this subpoena. CR 45(c)(3)(A)(iii). Absent this exception or waiver, a court "shall quash or modify the subpoena where it "requires disclosure of privileged or other protected matter and no exception or waiver applies." Id., emphasis added. Here, once the Dempsey court confirmed that the Defendants' SDT explicitly required the disclosure of privileged matter—attorney and expert work product—from this outside witness, then because the Defendants referenced neither any exception to CR 45's preclusion against such use of a subpoena, nor any waiver of the

preclusion, then the subpoena failed to conform to CR 45, and Plaintiffs were entitled to an immediate order quashing it, with sanctions. CR 45(c)(3)(A)(iii).

The *Dempsey* court did not make this distinction, leading to an erroneous outcome. *Dempsey* erred in changing the status of the Estate from a "bystander" to the direct target of the Defendants' subpoena. The trial court should be directed to quash the subpoena, and the Estate awarded its attorney fees. This "redirection" error should be reviewed under RAP 13.5 (b)(2).

E. The Appellate Court did not apply waiver contrary to state law. Waiver is not reached under this CR 45 subpoena.

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